



Correlation between change in muscle excursion and collagen content after tendon rupture and delayed repair



Il-Hyun Koh

Department of Medicine The Graduate School, Yonsei University

Correlation between change in muscle excursion and collagen content after tendon rupture and delayed repair

Directed by Professor Ho-Jung Kang

The Doctoral Dissertation submitted to the Department of Medicine, the Graduate School of Yonsei University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

Il-Hyun Koh

June 2015

This certifies that the Doctoral Dissertation of Il-Hyun Koh is approved.

Thesis Supervisor: Ho-Jung Kang

Thesis Committee Member#1: Young-Ho Lee

UNIDA

Thesis Committee Member#2: Jong-Chul Park

Thesis Committee Member#3: Hong-Kee Yoon

Thesis Committee Member#4: Yun-Rak Choi

The Graduate School Yonsei University

June 2015

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I am greatly honored to graduate the doctorial course. This dissertation would not have been completed without the inspiration and support of several people. First and foremost, I would like to thank my professor Ho-Jung Kang for supporting me, having faith in me, and constantly motivating me. I'm very grateful to professor Yun-Rak Choi who has always supported me from the beginning. I also thank to professor Young-Ho Lee, professor Jong-Chul Park and professor Hong-Kee Yoon for giving me constructive suggestion to improve my work. In addition, I would like to thank to professor Jin-Oh Park and professor Hyoung-Sik Kim for their support and encouragement. Lastly, I would like to thank my wife and family for their love and irreplaceable support.

<TABLE OF CONTENTS>

ABSTRACT ·····1
I. INTRODUCTION
II. MATERIALS AND METHODS ······6
1. Materials ······6
2. Experimental design6
3. Surgical procedures and measurements
A. Tenotomy ······6
B. Tendon repair ·····7
C. Measurement of excursion7
D. Measurement of hydroxyproline in EDII
E. Measurement of type I, III, and IV collagen content in EDII $\cdots 9$
F. Histological examination9
G. Statistical analysis
III. RESULTS10
1. Passive muscle excursion after tenotomy10
2. Hydroxyproline content of muscle after tenotomy10
3. Collagen content of muscle after tenotomy13
4. Histological findings after tenotomy13
5. Passive muscle excursion after tendon repair15
6. Hydroxyproline content as a measure of total collagen in muscle
after tendon repair17
7. Correlation analysis18
IV. DISCUSSION
V. CONCLUSION
REFERENCES27
ABSTRACT (IN KOREAN)
PUBLICATION LIST

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1. Passive muscle excursion and hydroxyproline content
of the EDII muscle of rabbits at various times after tenotomy.
Figure 2. Collagen content of the EDII muscle of rabbits at
various times after tenotomy12
Figure 3. Photomicrographs of cross-sections of rabbit EDII
after tenotomy, stained with Masson's trichrome14
Figure 4. Passive muscle excursion and hydroxyproline content
as a measure of total collagen after delayed tendon repair in the
EDII muscle of rabbit16
Figure 5. Passive muscle excursion of the EDII muscle of rabbits
at different times after tenotomy16
Figure 6. Hydroxyproline content in the EDII muscle as a
measure of total collagen at different times in rabbits subjected
to tenotomy or tenotomy with delayed repair at different times
after tenotomy17
Figure 7. Correlations between the excursion ratios relative to
the control values for several parameters in EDII muscles of
rabbits after tenotomy18
Figure 8. Correlation between muscle excursion values and the
hydroxyproline content, both relative to the control in EDII

muscles of rabbits after tenotomy with delayed tendon repair.



LIST OF TABLES

Table 1. Parameters of EDII muscles of rabbits at various times
after tenotomy11
Table 2. Passive muscle excursion and hydroxyproline content
of the EDII muscle of rabbit after tenotomy with delayed
tendon repair15



ABSTRACT

Correlation between change in muscle excursion and collagen content after tendon rupture and delayed repair

Il-Hyun Koh

Department of Medicine The Graduate School, Yonsei University

(Directed by Professor Ho-Jung Kang)

Understanding the excursion change after tendon rupture is important in selection of optimal treatment time and options. The objectives of the present study were, first, to learn whether the change in collagen content, thought to determine passive stiffness of muscle, is related to change in muscle excursion after tendon rupture with delayed repair. The second objective was to determine the contribution of the collagen subtypes to passive stiffness after tenotomy. Tenotomy on the extensor digitorum muscle of the second toe of New Zealand White rabbits was performed with or without subsequent repair. Muscle excursion, total collagen, and collagen subtype were assessed at various times after tenotomy. Total collagen and type I collagen significantly increased with time after tenotomy (p < 0.05), excursion and type III collagen decreased significantly (p < 0.05), and there was no significant change in type IV collagen (p = 0.106). Muscle excursion ratio was significantly negatively correlated (p < 0.05) with total collagen and type I collagen after tenotomy. Perimysium and endomysium thickening and a greater number of connections between thickened endomysia were noted 6 weeks after tenotomy compared to the control. The total collagen 8

weeks after tendon repair increased significantly and muscle excursion decreased significantly with delay in repair (p < 0.05), so that the excursion was significantly negatively correlated with total collagen (p < 0.05). The increase in collagen that was observed after tenotomy was not reversed by repair. Improvement in excursion was noted when repair was delayed by 1 or 2 weeks, but when it was delayed by 4 or 6 weeks, excursion decreased. Type I collagen has been associated with decreased excursion observed after tendon rupture. It may be that the decreased excursion observed after tendon rupture could be avoided if type I collagen accumulation could be prevented. Also, since muscle excursion was not improved when repair was performed more than 4 weeks after rupture, tendon transfer might be the best treatment option for tendon ruptures that have been neglected for more than 4 weeks.



Key words: collagen, collagen subtypes, muscle excursion, tendon rupture, delayed tendon repair

Correlation between change in muscle excursion and collagen content after tendon rupture and delayed repair

Il-Hyun Koh

Department of Medicine The Graduate School, Yonsei University

(Directed by Professor Ho-Jung Kang)

I. Introduction

The tendon is a dense cord of fibrous tissue that joins the muscle to a bone.¹ Muscular tensile force is transferred to the bone via the tendon to produce joint motion. The tendon is vulnerable to injury, including rupture, because of its distal and superficial location, limited blood supply, and high tensile stress.^{2,3} Tendon ruptures are classified as closed or open. Closed tendon injuries include traumatic tendon avulsion, spontaneous mid-substance rupture, attrition rupture, infiltrative tenosynovial rupture, and iatrogenic injury. These tendon injuries are often overlooked and, therefore, untreated and may eventually reduce active joint motion.⁴ Current methods of tendon repair that involve post-operative rehabilitation and prevention of tendon adhesion have attracted a great deal of attention recently. It is necessary, however, to view the tendon as part of the myotendinous unit. Understanding the effect of tendon

rupture on this unit, including the muscle, is important in predicting the clinical outcome.

When a tendon ruptures, the muscle retracts. Prolonged muscle retraction leads to muscle shortening and decreased excursion, which makes normal end-to-end repair of the ruptured tendon impossible.⁵⁻⁷ For treatment of neglected tendon rupture, repair must be performed with excessive joint flexion and may require additional procedures, such as tendon grafting or tendon transfer.⁵ In experiments with rabbit soleus muscles, decreases in muscle excursion were mainly observed during the first four weeks after tenotomy.⁸ In this study, the time of tendon repair after tenotomy and the muscle excursion at the time of repair independently influenced the recovery of muscle excursion.⁸ However, the major mechanism of excursion change and its recovery after tenotomy with delayed tendon repair is not known.

Prolonged muscle retraction after tendon rupture causes intracellular changes, including Z band streaming, shortened sarcomere lengths, central core degenerative changes, changes in the myosin heavy chains, titin isoform changes, and decreases in sarcomere number, as well as extracellular changes. The latter include an increase in collagen and reduced numbers of capillaries.⁹⁻¹⁵ In pathologic muscle, increased collagen content is believed to be an important factor in the excursion reduction.¹⁶ In a study using rat muscles, collagen networks increased after tenotomy in rat muscles,¹⁷ and increases in the collagen content of muscles after tenotomy or tendon rupture appear to be related to poor muscle recovery when tendon repair is delayed.

Collagen is an important component of the extracellular matrix (ECM) of the connective tissue layers that surround muscle cells. These are the endomysium, perimysium, and epimysium.¹⁸⁻²⁰ The endomysium is a reticular layer that encases individual muscle fibers and is composed of type IV collagen.²¹ The perimysium encases muscle fiber bundles and is composed of type I and III collagen. It stretches when the muscle fiber bundle expands and bends into a corrugated form when it contracts.²¹ The epimysium, which forms the outer protective sheath of the muscle, is composed of type I and III collagen.²²⁻²⁴ Type I collagen has a triple helix structure composed of two $\alpha 1(I)$ chains and one $\alpha 2(I)$ chain with thick fibers. Type III collagen has a triple helix structure composed of the same $\alpha 1(III)$ chains with thin fibers.²⁵ Although fibers tend to form spontaneously depending on collagen type, the thickness of collagen fibers varies depending on the types of collagen and the diameter increases proportionately with type I to type III ratio.²⁶ The ratio of collagen types differs in the endomysium, perimysium, and epimysium, as well as between muscles and species.²⁷ The difference in molecular structure and tensile stress between collagen subtypes is thought to influence passive stiffness and excursion. However, no study has been conducted on the changes in ratios of collagen subtypes over time after tenotomy.

Understanding the cause of the excursion change after tendon rupture with delayed repair is important in determining optimal treatment time and making correct treatment choices, specifically, choosing between direct tendon repair, grafting, or tendon transfer. Identifying the area in which the change in the ratio of collagen subtype is initiated may reveal the appropriate therapeutic target of change of muscle excursion. Also, it is important to understand the cells and mechanisms involved. The objectives of the present study were, first, to learn whether the change in collagen content, thought to determine passive stiffness of muscle, is related to change in muscle excursion after tendon rupture with delayed repair. The second objective was to determine the contribution of the collagen subtypes to passive stiffness after tendomy.

II. Materials and methods

1. Materials

All experimental methods were approved by the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee. New Zealand White rabbits were used for this study (mean body mass: 3.1 ± 0.5 kg; n = 48 subjects, 96 hind limbs).

2. Experimental design

The extensor digitorum muscle of the second toe (EDII) was chosen as the experimental muscle because it has a long and large tendon that can be easily manipulated surgically. This muscle is easy to define because all muscle fibers of the muscle of the second toe originate from the medial surface of the tibia. The EDII tendon is also an intrasynovial tendon, as are the human finger flexors that are commonly injured.²⁸

Animals were randomly assigned to treatment groups of six at the beginning of the study. For the first experiment, tenotomy of the EDII was performed on the right legs and the intact left legs served as the control. Passive muscle excursion and the content of hydroxyproline and type I, III, and IV collagen were measured at 1, 2, 4, or 6 weeks after tenotomy. The legs were also histologically examined. For the second experiment, tenotomy of the EDII was performed on the right leg and the intact left legs served as the control. The tendon was repaired at various times after tenotomy. Passive muscle excursion and hydroxyproline content were measured in both legs 8 weeks after repair.

3. Surgical procedures and measurements

A. Tenotomy

Anesthesia was induced with an intramuscular injection of 15 mg/kg of

Zoletil 50 (Zoletil 50 mg/mL, [tiletamine 125 mg, zolazepam 125 mg]; Virbac, Carros, France) and 5 mg/kg of Rompun (xylazine hydrochloride 23.32 mg/mL; Bayer Korea, Seoul, South Korea), and was maintained with enflurane, which provided approximately 30 min of adequate sedation. The right hind limbs of the animals were shaved and they were positioned supine on the operating table. The knee was in approximately 90° of flexion and the hip was in flexion and external rotation. Under aseptic conditions, a longitudinal skin incision was made over the medial side of the distal tibia and the tendon of the EDII was exposed. The tendon was transected at the level of the metatarsal. The wound was closed and animals were returned to their cages.

B. Tendon repair

At various times after tenotomy was performed as described above, animals were anesthetized, their incisions were re-opened, and the proximal tendon stump of the muscle was completely released from the adhesions with the surrounding tissues. Because end-to-end repair was impossible due to the decreased muscle excursion, the tendon was sutured to the ankle extensor retinaculum at the point of the 50% excursion. After wound closure, animals were allowed to move freely in their cages.

C. Measurement of excursion

The proximal tendon stump of the muscle was completely released from the adhesions with the surrounding tissues before the measurement of muscle excursion. Marking suture was placed in a proximal tendon end in the myotendinous junction, which was selected as a measurement point to avoid tendon length change by stretching of the tendon. The EDII tendon was pulled with a hemostat by an operating surgeon. Traction force was maximally applied to the EDII tendon to the extent that further plastic deformation did not occur by the stretching of the tendon. A location of marking suture in retracted position and maximal manual traction position were marked in the medial tibia bone. Muscle excursion was obtained by measuring the distance between two bone markers using a digital caliper.

D. Measurement of hydroxyproline in EDII

Animals were sacrificed with an overdose of pentobarbital (150mg/kg i.p.). The EDII were harvested from the bilateral lower limbs after measuring the muscle excursion. Hydroxyproline, a major component of collagen, was quantified as a measure of the collagen content using the Hydroxyproline Colorimetric Assay Kit (BioVision, San Francisco, CA, USA). The standard curve was initially prepared. The hydroxyproline standard was diluted to 0.1 mg/ml by adding 10 μ l of the 1 mg/ml standard to 90 μ l of distilled water (dH2O). Increasing volumes (0, 2, 4, 6, 8, and 10 µl) were added to a series of wells, and the overall volumes were adjusted to 50 µl/well with dH2O, to generate 0, 0.2, 0.4, 0.6, 0.8, and 1.0 µg/well of the hydroxyproline standard. Muscle samples were homogenized in dH2O, using 100 µl H2O for every 10 mg of tissue. To a 100 µl sample of homogenate, 100 µl of concentrated HCl (~12 N) was added in a pressure-tight, Teflon-capped vial, and hydrolyzed at 120°C for 3 hours. A total of 10 µl of each hydrolyzed sample was transferred to a 96-well plate and evaporated to dryness under a vacuum. A total of 100 µl of the chloramine T reagent was added to each sample and standard, and incubated room temperature for 5 minutes. Then, 100 µl of the pat dimethylaminobenzaldehyde reagent was added to each well and incubated for 90 min at 60°C. Finally, absorbance at 560 nm was measured in a VersaMax ELISA Microplate Reader (Molecular Devices, Sunnyvale, CA, USA).

E. Measurement of type I, III, and IV collagen content in EDII

Type I, III, and IV collagen were measured using specific enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) kits (www.antibodies-online.com; catalog numbers: ABIN628250, ABIN628251, ABIN628256, respectively). Briefly, the muscle tissues were rinsed in ice-cold phosphate buffered saline (PBS) (0.02 mol/L, pH 7.2) to remove excess blood thoroughly, and weighed before homogenization. The tissues were minced to small pieces and homogenized in ice-cold PBS using a Precellys 24 tissue homogenizer (Bertin Corp, Rockville, MD, USA). The resulting suspension was subjected to 2 freeze-thaw cycles to further break the cell membranes. After that, the homogenates were centrifuged for 15 minutes at 5000 rpm and the supernatants were used for type I, III, and IV collagen assay, according to the manufacturer's instructions.

F. Histological examination

The muscle tissues were processed for histological analysis, embedded in paraffin, and sectioned with a microtome to obtain 5 μ m thick cross-sections. The sections were mounted on slides and stained with Masson trichrome to assess the presence of collagen infiltration and fibrosis. Sections were scanned with a virtual microscope (BX51, Olympus, Tokyo, Japan) attached to the charged couple device (CCD) camera VC50, captured by using a 40X objective (equivalent to 400X base magnification), and digitized as virtual slides.

G. Statistical analysis

The SPSS version 20 (SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, USA) was used for all statistical analyses. The muscle excursion, the content of hydroxyproline, and the type I, III, and IV collagen content relative to the control were used to counter the individual differences. The values for these three parameters at each

time point after tenotomy were compared with the linear mixed model. The muscle excursion and hydroxyproline content relative to the control value 8 weeks after tendon repair were compared with the linear mixed model, according to the repair timing. Post-hoc analysis was also performed. The muscle excursion ratios to the control value after tenotomy and after delayed tendon repair were compared according to the period after the tenotomy, using the Mann-Whitney test. The hydroxyproline ratios to the control value after tenotomy and after delayed tendon repair was also compared according to the period after the tenotomy, using the Mann-Whitney test. The hydroxyproline ratios to the control value after tenotomy and after delayed tendon repair was also compared according to the period after the tenotomy, using the Mann-Whitney test. Correlations between the muscle excursion ratio to the control value and hydroxyproline, type I, III and IV collagen content ratio to the control value at each time point after tenotomy and between the muscle excursion ratio to the control value 8 weeks after tendon repair were also analyzed. For all analyses, the level of significance was p < 0.05.

III. Results

1. Passive muscle excursion after tenotomy

The mean passive muscle excursions after tenotomy are shown in Table 1 and Figure 1. There was a significant difference in the mean muscle excursion relative to the control among groups (p < 0.05). Post-hoc analysis showed a significant decrease in the muscle excursion relative to the control between 1 and 6 weeks after tenotomy (p < 0.05).

2. Hydroxyproline content of muscle after tenotomy

Hydroxyproline content of the muscle was measured to quantify the total collagen. There was a significant difference in the mean hydroxyproline content

relative to the control after tenotomy among groups (p < 0.05). Post-hoc analysis showed a significant increase in the hydroxyproline content relative to the control between 1 and 4 weeks after tenotomy (p < 0.05) and between 1 and 6 weeks after tenotomy (p < 0.05; Table 1 and Figure 1).

Tuete It I utunte					vomj
Time after	1 week	2 weeks	4 weeks	6 weeks	р
tenotomy					value
Passive muscle excursion (mm)	3.7 ± 0.5	3.7 ± 0.3	3.1 ± 0.8	2.4 ± 0.4	
Passive muscle excursion ratio (treated/control)	0.94 ± 0.06	0.92 ± 0.13	0.76 ± 0.25	0.60 ± 0.12	${<}0.05^{\dagger}$
Hydroxyproline content (ng/mL)	591.86 ± 82.52	678.95 ± 94.93	865.21 ±171.95	740.09 ±240.86	
Hydroxyproline content ratio (treated/control)	0.98 ± 0.31	1.16 ± 0.27	1.59 ± 0.43	1.62± 0.10	< 0.05*,†
Type I collagen content (ng/mL)	32.85 ± 5.94	49.88 ± 1.59	64.88 ± 2.53	65.39 ± 9.81	
Type I collagen content ratio (treated/control)	1.06 ± 0.22	1.17 ± 0.08	1.55 ± 0.14	1.61 ± 0.43	< 0.05*,†
Type III collagen content (ng/mL)	9.03 ± 1.91	7.34 ± 1.96	6.58 ± 1.48	5.62 ± 1.68	
Type III collagen content ratio (treated/control)	0.92 ± 0.20	0.78 ± 0.20	0.68 ± 0.29	0.57 ± 0.33	${<}0.05^{\dagger}$
Type IV collagen content (ng/mL)	1.89 ± 1.62	2.27 ± 1.01	2.68 ± 0.55	2.70 ± 1.79	
Type IV collagen content ratio (treated/control)	0.87 ± 0.48	1.43 ± 0.59	1.24 ± 0.57	1.57 ±1.05	0.106

Table 1. Parameters of EDII muscles of rabbits at various times after tenotomy

Data are presented as means \pm SE; * significant post-hoc difference between 1 and 4 weeks after tenotomy (p < 0.05); * significant post-hoc difference between 1 and 6 weeks after tenotomy (p < 0.05).



Figure 1. Passive muscle excursion and hydroxyproline content of the EDII muscle of rabbits at various times after tenotomy. Data represent means \pm SE and are relative to the control values. *significant post-hoc difference (p < 0.05).



Figure 2. Collagen content of the EDII muscle of rabbits at various times after tenotomy. Data represent means \pm SE and are relative to the control values. *significant post-hoc difference (p < 0.05).

3. Collagen content of muscle after tenotomy

Collagen contents of the muscles after tenotomy are shown in Table 1 and Figure 2.

There was a significant difference in the mean type I collagen content relative to the control after tenotomy among groups (p < 0.05). Post-hoc analysis showed a significant increase in the type I collagen content relative to the control between 1 and 4 weeks after tenotomy (p < 0.05) and between 1 and 6 weeks after tenotomy (p < 0.05).

There was significant difference in the mean type III collagen content relative to the control after tenotomy among groups (p < 0.05). Post-hoc analysis showed a significant decrease in the type III collagen content relative to the control between 1 and 6 weeks after tenotomy (p < 0.05).

There was no significant difference in the mean type IV collagen content ratio after tenotomy among groups (p = 0.106).

4. Histological findings after tenotomy

Masson's Trichrome staining of cross-sections of EDII muscle showed no differences 1 week after tenotomy. Two weeks after tenotomy, a slight thickening of the perimysium was seen and fibroblast infiltrations in the endomysium around the atrophic muscle fiber were noted. Four weeks after tenotomy, the perimysium and endomysium were thickened and the endomysium had more fibroblasts than at earlier times. The thickened endomysia were connected to each other and to the perimysia. Six weeks after tenotomy, there were more atrophic muscle fibers than earlier. The perimysium was slightly thickened than at 4 weeks, but the endomysium became more thickened and there were increased connections between them; additionally, fatty infiltration was noted (Fig. 3).



Figure 3. Photomicrographs of cross-sections of rabbit EDII after tenotomy, stained with Masson's trichrome. (A, B) Two weeks after tenotomy, slight thickening of the perimysium with fibroblast infiltrations in the endomysium is apparent. (C, D) By the 4 weeks after tenotomy, thickening of the perimysium is more obvious with increased fibroblast presence. (E) Note fatty infiltration at 6 weeks. (F) Also at 6 weeks, endomysium thickening and increased connections between the thickened endomysia are apparent (Scale bars: A, C and E, 200 μ m and B, D and F, 100 μ m).

5. Passive muscle excursion after tendon repair

The mean passive muscle excursions after tendon repair at the times measured are shown in Table 2 and Figure 4. There was a significant difference in the muscle excursion relative to the control after tendon repair among groups (p < 0.05). Post-hoc analysis showed a significant decrease in the muscle excursion relative to the control between 1 and 4 weeks after tenotomy (p < 0.05) and between 1 and 6 weeks after tenotomy (p < 0.05). Significant differences in excursion values relative to the control were observed between tenotomy and delayed tendon repair group at all-time points (p < 0.05; Fig 5).

Time of repair after tenotomy	1 week	2 weeks	4 weeks	6 weeks	p value
Passive muscle excursion (mm)	3.7 ± 0.5	3.8 ± 0.5	3.0 ± 0.5	2.4 ± 0.3	
Passive muscle excursion ratio (treated/control)	0.97 ± 0.09	0.94 ± 0.16	0.73 ± 0.12	0.58 ± 0.10	< 0.05*,†
Hydroxyproline content (ng/mL)	644.27 ± 64.11	684.24 ± 187.93	791.42 ± 152.78	792.10 ± 311.20	
Hydroxyproline content ratio (treated/control)	1.18 ± 0.22	1.20 ± 0.40	1.71 ± 0.96	1.93 ± 1.10	$<\!\!0.05^{\dagger}$

Table 2. Passive muscle excursion and hydroxyproline content of the EDII muscle of rabbit after tenotomy with delayed tendon repair

Hydroxyproline was used as a measure of total collagen. *Significant post-hoc difference between 1 and 4 weeks after tenotomy (p < 0.05), [†] significant post-hoc difference between 1 and 6 weeks after tenotomy (p < 0.05).



Figure 4. Passive muscle excursion and hydroxyproline content as a measure of total collagen after delayed tendon repair in the EDII muscle of rabbit. Data are expressed as means \pm SE and relative to the control values. *significant post-hoc difference (p < 0.05).



Figure 5. Passive muscle excursion of the EDII muscle of rabbits at different times after tenotomy. The tendon was repaired at the indicated time in the delayed repair group. Data are expressed as means \pm SE and relative to the control values. *significant difference between groups (p < 0.05).

6. Hydroxyproline content as a measure of total collagen in muscle after tendon repair

The mean hydroxyproline contents in the muscle after tendon repair are presented in Table 2 and Figure 4. There was a significant difference in the mean hydroxyproline content relative to the control after tendon repair among groups (p < 0.05). Post-hoc analysis showed a significant increase in the hydroxyproline content ratio between 1 and 6 weeks after tenotomy (p < 0.05). Significant differences in hydroxyproline content relative to the control were observed between tenotomy and delayed tendon repair group according to period after tenotomy (p < 0.05; Fig. 6).



Figure 6. Hydroxyproline content in the EDII muscle as a measure of total collagen at different times in rabbits subjected to tenotomy or tenotomy with delayed repair at different times after tenotomy. Data are expressed as means \pm SE and relative to the control values. *significant difference between groups (p < 0.05).

7. Correlation analysis

When considering the values relative to the control, we observed a significant correlation between the muscle excursion values and the hydroxyproline content after tenotomy (r = -0.884, p < 0.05). There was also a significant correlation between muscle excursion values and the amount of type I collagen after tenotomy (r = -0.466, p < 0.05). We conclude that the decreased muscle excursion was associated with increases in total type I collagen content following tenotomy. There was no significant correlation between the muscle excursion values and the type III collagen content (r = 0.283, p = 0.18) or with type IV collagen content after tenotomy (r = -0.19, p = 0.373; Fig. 7). However, we noted a significant correlation between the muscle excursion values after tendon repair and the hydroxyproline content after delayed tendon repair (r = -0.721, p < 0.05). It may be that the decrease in muscle excursion correlated with the increase in muscle total collagen content over repair time following tenotomy (Fig. 8).





Figure 7. Correlations between the excursion ratios relative to the control values for several parameters in EDII muscles of rabbits after tenotomy.



Figure 8. Correlation between muscle excursion values and the hydroxyproline content, both relative to the control in EDII muscles of rabbits after tenotomy with delayed tendon repair.

IV. Discussion

To find out the relationships between the change in muscle excursion and collagen contents after tendon rupture and delayed repair, tenotomy on EDII muscles of rabbits was performed on the right legs with or without subsequent repair. The intact left legs served as the control. The muscle excursion, the content of hydroxyproline, and the type I, III, and IV collagen content relative to the control were used to counter the individual differences. Total collagen and type I collagen significantly increased with time after tenotomy (p < 0.05), excursion and type III collagen decreased significantly (p < 0.05), and there was no significantly negatively correlated (p < 0.05) with total collagen and type I collagen after tenotomy. Perimysium and endomysium thickening and a greater number of connections between thickened endomysia were noted 6 weeks after

tenotomy compared to the control. The total collagen 8 weeks after tendon repair increased significantly and muscle excursion decreased significantly with delay in repair (p < 0.05), so that the excursion was significantly negatively correlated with total collagen (p < 0.05). The increase in collagen that was observed after tenotomy was not reversed by repair. Improvement in excursion was noted when repair was delayed by 1 or 2 weeks, but when it was delayed by 4 or 6 weeks, excursion decreased. Type I collagen has been associated with decreased excursion after tendon rupture.

Muscle excursion can be divided into two phases. Active excursion is a change in length caused by muscle contraction, which is 40% of the length of the muscle. Passive excursion is the change in length when maximum passive tension is applied on a tendon under retraction.²⁹ Active excursion is related to the number of sarcomeres (which is equal to the length of the muscle fibers), and can change so that the length of individual sarcomeres does not change, maintaining their optimal length in the presence of sustained length change in muscles at rest.^{30,31} Passive excursion is thought to be related to the number of sarcomeres as well as the passive stiffness of the muscle. Passive muscle stiffness is, in turn, determined by the isoform of titin that is present and the amount of collagen.^{32,33} The amount of the titin isoform determines the muscle fiber stiffness within a sarcomere, and the collagen content determines muscle stiffness on the whole-muscle basis.³⁴ There is disagreement about the role sarcomere number plays in passive excursion under pathological conditions, which was suggested to be due to the importance of the ECM.³⁵ In the present study, the hydroxyproline content was negatively correlated with excursion over time after tenotomy with delayed tendon repair. It may be that the decrease in passive excursion is determined by the increase in the total collagen after tenotomy.

In a number of studies, most hydroxyproline has been detected in fibrillar collagens, such as types I and III, and to a much lesser extent in non-fibrillar collagens, such as type IV. Nonetheless, hydroxyproline content is considered to represent total collagen.^{36,37} In the present study, the ratio of type I to type III collagen 1 week after tenotomy was 3.6:1 and type I was negatively correlated with passive excursion while type III was positively correlated with passive excursion. Type I and III collagen are important components of the perimysium and epimysium and their relative amounts differ between species, and between muscle groups within the same species.^{38,39} Therefore, different results might be observed according to ratio of type I to type III collagen content if excursion is analyzed according to hydroxyproline content. Type I collagen, a fibrillar collagen, is composed of a bundle of thick fibrils with an average diameter of 75 nm. It is thought to resist tension and so decreases excursion via increased passive stiffness. In contrast, type III collagen is composed of loosely packed bunches of thin fibers with a diameter of 45 nm and provides structural stability to expandable organs, such as the uterus.⁴⁰ The difference in tensile stress between type I and type III collagen may determine passive stiffness and excursion. If there is a high ratio of type I to type III collagen in a muscle, increased passive stiffness and decreased excursion would be expected. Therefore, measures that suppress increases in type I collagen content might prevent a decrease in excursion after tendon rupture.

The amount hydroxyproline and type I collagen relative to the control increased by the fourth week after tenotomy and changed little after that. This result is consistent with the histological examination: thickening of perimysium and the slight thickening of endomysium were noted 4 weeks after tenotomy, but did not continue to increase rapidly after that. The increase in collagen during the fourth week after tenotomy is in agreement with studies that found

that internal changes in the muscle cells were completed 4 weeks after the alterations to muscle use.^{31,41} However, a decrease in excursion was observed during the six weeks after tenotomy. The decrease in excursion between weeks 4 and 6 cannot be explained by an increase in collagen content, because the increase of total collagen content was not significant between weeks 4 and 6. It may have been partially caused by structural changes in the collagen. Structural changes in collagen involve pyridinium cross-linking and advanced glycation end products.⁴² Cross-linking stiffens collagen fibers.⁴³ Such structural changes are reportedly irreversible and accumulate over time, contributing to the aging process.^{42,44,45} Additional experiments should determine whether a decrease in excursion 4 weeks after tenotomy is related to collagen cross-linking.

Type IV collagen is a non-fibrillar collagen and important component of the endomysium.¹⁸ It forms a reticular meshwork of individual muscle fibers and may function in resistance to multi-directional, rather than longitudinal, tension.²³ In addition, the endomysium connects individual muscle fibers through a basement membrane and is important in lateral force transmission.⁴⁶ The collagen of the endomysium and perimysium increases after tenotomy.¹⁵ In the present study, thickening of the endomysium was accompanied by increased fibroblast infiltration 4 weeks after tenotomy and was even more apparent 6 weeks after tenotomy. The type IV collagen content relative to the control tended to increase over time after tenotomy. Although this was not significant, a larger study might be useful to determine if this trend is real. One study reported that, after high-force eccentric contraction, thickness of the endomysium increased as the type IV collagen content of the skeletal muscle increased.⁴⁷ Furthermore, because type IV collagen other than that in the ECM is distributed widely in the basal lamina of microvessels and vessel density decreases after tenotomy, changes in microvessels may be an important factor in analysis of type IV collagen content.⁴⁸ Another report also stated that synthesis of type I, III, and IV collagen in muscles decreased after long periods of immobilization.⁴⁹ These results are confounding factors in the interpretation of our results. However, an increase of type IV collagen content may be related to the thickening of the endomysium as the amount of type IV collagen tended to increase relative to the control over time. Immunohistochemical analysis might clarify this issue.

After delayed repair, the hydroxyproline content relative to the control increased after repair (Fig. 6). Therefore, the accumulation of collagen in response to tenotomy was not reversed within the 8 weeks of this study. In particular, a gradual increase in hydroxyproline content was observed at 4 and 6 weeks in the delayed tendon repair group. This is considered to be caused by fibrosis resulting from micro-circulation dysfunction of fixed muscle in an overstretched state, which is induced via a decrease in excursion over time. Improvement in excursion ratio was noted 1 and 2 weeks after the repair, whereas a decline in excursion compared to the control was noted 4 and 6 weeks after repair (Fig. 5). Therefore, improvement in excursion may be possible if repair is performed up to 2 weeks after tenotomy. After 4 weeks, the increased collagen content may limit the degree of tendon repair, causing pathologic positive feedback of fibrosis and preventing improvement in excursion. Therefore, end-to-end repair or tendon grafting more than 4 weeks following the tendon rupture is unlikely to result in recovery from excursion. Tendon transfer might be the best available option for the treatment of tendon rupture that has been neglected for more than 4 weeks.

There are several limitations to the present study. First, the applied maximal passive tension may be subjective when measuring passive excursion. Muscle excursion has been measured during full flexion and extension of joints

using ultrasonography or magnetic resonance imaging, but in cases of tendon rupture, excursion measurement by joint motion is impossible.^{50,51} In this study excursion was measured by manual traction to the extent that further plastic deformation did not occur. Tendon traction using a specific weight was thought to be a more objective method than manual traction, but because excursion could vary according to the weight applied to a tendon, it is difficult to determine the proper weight and interpret the results. Maximal manual traction force might be subjective, but this measurement method was thought to be more applicable and reproducible in a clinical situation.⁸ Second, our study was focused on the relationship between passive muscle excursion and collagen content following tenotomy and delayed tendon repair. Sarcomere number is also considered to be an important factor in muscle excursion and a change in sarcomere number after tenotomy with delayed repair could be important in muscle excursion. Understanding the effect of the amount of collagen on muscle excursion will require assessing the effect of a decreased sarcomere number in passive excursion.

V. Conclusion

In this study, muscle excursion decreased, the amount of total collagen and type I collagen increased, and type III collagen decreased over time after tenotomy, while little change in type IV collagen content was observed. Total collagen and type I collagen content were negatively correlated with excursion after tenotomy. Type I collagen is considered an important factor in decreased excursion after a tendon rupture. The total collagen did not decrease once the tendon was repaired and increases in excursion were only observed when the repair was performed within 2 weeks after tenotomy. Therefore, in order to

prevent a decrease in excursion after tendon rupture, measures to suppress increased type I collagen content should be developed. In addition, tendon transfer should be considered as a treatment option when tendon rupture has been neglected for more than 4 weeks.



REFERENCES

- Amiel D, Frank C, Harwood F, Fronek J, Akeson W. Tendons and ligaments: a morphological and biochemical comparison. J Orthop Res 1984;1:257-65.
- Mazzone MF, McCue T. Common conditions of the achilles tendon. Am Fam Physician 2002;65:1805-10.
- Santiago FR, Plazas PG, Fernandez JM. Sonography findings in tears of the extensor pollicis longus tendon and correlation with CT, MRI and surgical findings. Eur J Radiol 2008;66:112-6.
- Netscher DT, Badal JJ. Closed flexor tendon ruptures. J Hand Surg Am 2014;39:2315-23; quiz 23.
- 5. Chung MS, Baek GH, Oh JH, Lee YH, Bin SW, Gong HS. The effect of muscle length and excursion on muscle contracture after tendon injury: a study in rabbit soleus muscles. Injury 2007;38:1139-45.
- Van Dyke JM, Bain JL, Riley DA. Preserving sarcomere number after tenotomy requires stretch and contraction. Muscle Nerve 2012;45:367-75.
- Meyer DC, Hoppeler H, von Rechenberg B, Gerber C. A pathomechanical concept explains muscle loss and fatty muscular changes following surgical tendon release. J Orthop Res 2004;22:1004-7.
- Jeon SH, Chung MS, Baek GH, Lee YH, Gong HS. The effect of muscle excursion on muscle recovery after tendon repair in a neglected tendon injury: a study in rabbit soleus muscles. J Orthop Res 2011;29:74-8.
- 9. Jamali AA, Afshar P, Abrams RA, Lieber RL. Skeletal muscle response

to tenotomy. Muscle Nerve 2000;23:851-62.

- Krochmal DJ, Kuzon WM, Jr., Urbanchek MG. Muscle force and power following tendon repair at altered tendon length. J Surg Res 2008;146:81-9.
- Abou Salem EA, Ishikawa H. Early morphological changes in the rat soleus muscle induced by tenotomy and denervation. J Electron Microsc (Tokyo) 2001;50:275-82.
- Baker JH. The development of central cores in both fiber types in tenotomized muscle. Muscle Nerve 1985;8:115-9.
- Barton ER, Gimbel JA, Williams GR, Soslowsky LJ. Rat supraspinatus muscle atrophy after tendon detachment. J Orthop Res 2005;23:259-65.
- Wang K, McCarter R, Wright J, Beverly J, Ramirez-Mitchell R. Regulation of skeletal muscle stiffness and elasticity by titin isoforms: a test of the segmental extension model of resting tension. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1991;88:7101-5.
- 15. Jozsa L, Kvist M, Kannus P, Jarvinen M. The effect of tenotomy and immobilization on muscle spindles and tendon organs of the rat calf muscles. A histochemical and morphometrical study. Acta Neuropathol 1988;76:465-70.
- Gajdosik RL. Passive extensibility of skeletal muscle: review of the literature with clinical implications. Clin Biomech (Bristol, Avon) 2001;16:87-101.
- 17. Jozsa L, Kannus P, Thoring J, Reffy A, Jarvinen M, Kvist M. The effect of tenotomy and immobilisation on intramuscular connective tissue. A morphometric and microscopic study in rat calf muscles. J Bone Joint Surg Br 1990;72:293-7.

- Huijing PA. Muscle as a collagen fiber reinforced composite: a review of force transmission in muscle and whole limb. J Biomech 1999;32:329-45.
- Borg TK, Caulfield JB. Morphology of connective tissue in skeletal muscle. Tissue Cell 1980;12:197-207.
- Mayne R, Sanderson RD. The extracellular matrix of skeletal muscle. Coll Relat Res 1985;5:449-68.
- Purslow PP. Strain-induced reorientation of an intramuscular connective tissue network: implications for passive muscle elasticity. J Biomech 1989;22:21-31.
- 22. Gillies AR, Lieber RL. Structure and function of the skeletal muscle extracellular matrix. Muscle Nerve 2011;44:318-31.
- 23. Duance VC, Restall DJ, Beard H, Bourne FJ, Bailey AJ. The location of three collagen types in skeletal muscle. FEBS Lett 1977;79:248-52.
- 24. Foidart M, Foidart JM, Engel WK. Collagen localization in normal and fibrotic human skeletal muscle. Arch Neurol 1981;38:152-7.
- Birk DE, Brückner P. Collagens, suprastructures, and collagen fibril assembly. The extracellular matrix: an overview: Springer; 2011. p.77-115.
- Lapiere CM, Nusgens B, Pierard G. Interaction between collagen type I and type III in conditioning bundles organization. Connect Tissue Res 1977;5:21-9.
- 27. Calvi EN, Nahas FX, Barbosa MV, Ihara SS, Calil JA, Ferreira LM. Immunohistochemical analysis of collagen content and types in the rectus abdominis muscle of cadavers of different ages. Acta Cir Bras 2011;26 Suppl 2:3-7.
- 28. Takahashi M, Ward SR, Marchuk LL, Frank CB, Lieber RL.

Asynchronous muscle and tendon adaptation after surgical tensioning procedures. J Bone Joint Surg Am 2010;92:664-74.

- Kozin SH, Bednar M. In vivo determination of available brachioradialis excursion during tetraplegia reconstruction. J Hand Surg Am 2001;26:510-4.
- Koh TJ, Herzog W. Excursion is important in regulating sarcomere number in the growing rabbit tibialis anterior. Physiol 1998;508:267-80.
- 31. Baker JH, Hall-Craggs EC. Changes in length of sarcomeres following tenotomy of the rat soleus muscle. Anat Rec 1978;192:55-8.
- Granzier HL, Irving TC. Passive tension in cardiac muscle: contribution of collagen, titin, microtubules, and intermediate filaments. Biophys J 1995;68:1027-44.
- Wu Y, Cazorla O, Labeit D, Labeit S, Granzier H. Changes in titin and collagen underlie diastolic stiffness diversity of cardiac muscle. J Mol Cell Cardiol 2000;32:2151-62.
- 34. Prado LG, Makarenko I, Andresen C, Kruger M, Opitz CA, Linke WA. Isoform diversity of giant proteins in relation to passive and active contractile properties of rabbit skeletal muscles. J Gen Physiol 2005;126:461-80.
- 35. Matthiasdottir S, Hahn M, Yaraskavitch M, Herzog W. Muscle and fascicle excursion in children with cerebral palsy. Clin Biomech (Bristol, Avon) 2014;29:458-62.
- Edwards CA, O'Brien WD, Jr. Modified assay for determination of hydroxyproline in a tissue hydrolyzate. Clin Chim Acta 1980;104:161-7.
- 37. Kragstrup TW, Kjaer M, Mackey AL. Structural, biochemical, cellular,

and functional changes in skeletal muscle extracellular matrix with aging. Scand J Med Sci Sports 2011;21:749-57.

- 38. Listrat A, Picard B, Geay Y. Age-related changes and location of type I, III, IV, V and VI collagens during development of four foetal skeletal muscles of double-muscled and normal bovine animals. Tissue Cell 1999;31:17-27.
- Calvi EN, Nahas FX, Barbosa MV, Calil JA, Ihara SS, Juliano Y, et al. Collagen fibers in the rectus abdominis muscle of cadavers of different age. Hernia 2014;18:527-33.
- 40. de Souza RR. Aging of myocardial collagen. Biogerontology 2002;3:325-35.
- 41. Eisenberg BR, Salmons S. The reorganization of subcellular structure in muscle undergoing fast-to-slow type transformation. A stereological study. Cell Tissue Res 1981;220:449-71.
- 42. Haus JM, Carrithers JA, Trappe SW, Trappe TA. Collagen, cross-linking, and advanced glycation end products in aging human skeletal muscle. J Appl Physiol (1985) 2007;103:2068-76.
- Fratzl P, Misof K, Zizak I, Rapp G, Amenitsch H, Bernstorff S. Fibrillar structure and mechanical properties of collagen. J Struct Biol 1998;122:119-22.
- Seene T, Kaasik P, Riso EM. Review on aging, unloading and reloading: changes in skeletal muscle quantity and quality. Arch Gerontol Geriatr 2012;54:374-80.
- Yamauchi M, Woodley DT, Mechanic GL. Aging and cross-linking of skin collagen. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 1988;152:898-903.
- 46. Bloch RJ, Gonzalez-Serratos H. Lateral force transmission across costameres in skeletal muscle. Exerc Sport Sci Rev 2003;31:73-8.

- Mackey AL, Donnelly AE, Turpeenniemi-Hujanen T, Roper HP. Skeletal muscle collagen content in humans after high-force eccentric contractions. J Appl Physiol (1985) 2004;97:197-203.
- 48. Uspenskaia O, Liebetrau M, Herms J, Danek A, Hamann GF. Aging is associated with increased collagen type IV accumulation in the basal lamina of human cerebral microvessels. BMC Neurosci 2004;5:37.
- 49. Ahtikoski A, Koskinen S, Virtanen P, Kovanen V, Risteli J, Takala T. Synthesis and degradation of type IV collagen in rat skeletal muscle during immobilization in shortened and lengthened positions. Acta Physiol Scand 2003;177:473-81.
- 50. Lee SS, Piazza SJ. Inversion-eversion moment arms of gastrocnemius and tibialis anterior measured in vivo. J Biomech 2008;41:3366-70.
- 51. Maganaris CN. Imaging-based estimates of moment arm length in intact human muscle-tendons. Eur J Appl Physiol 2004;91:130-9.

ABSTRACT(IN KOREAN)

건 파열 및 지연봉합 후 발생한 근 가동역 및 콜라겐 총량 변화의 연관성

<지도교수 강호정>

연세대학교 대학원 의학과

고일현

건 파열 후 및 지연된 건 봉합 후 발생하는 근 가동역 변화의 원인을 이해하는 것은 진구성 건 파열의 치료시기 및 방법을 결정하는데 중요하다. 근육의 수동성 경직도를 결정한다고 알려진 콜라겐의 총량 및 아형의 변화가 건 파열 후 및 지연된 건 봉합 후 근 가동역의 변화와 연관이 있다는 가설 하에, 24 마리 토끼의 우측 제 2 족지 신전건을 절제하고 네 군으로 나누어 1, 2, 4, 6 주 후에 양측 제 2 족지 신전근의 콜라겐 총량. 1, 3, 4 형 콜라겐의 양 및 수동적 근 가동역을 측정하였고 조직학적 검사를 시행하였다. 또한 다른 24 마리 토끼의 우측 제 2 족지 신전건을 절제하고 네 군으로 나누어 1, 2, 4, 6 주 경과 후 지연된 건 봉합술을 실시하고, 양측 제 2 족지 신전근에 대해 봉합 8 주째 콜라겐 총량 및 수동적 근 가동역을 측정하였다. 개체간 차이를 보정하기 위해 좌측의 측정치를 대조군으로 하여, 우측의 측정값을 좌측의 측정값으로 나눈 비율을 통계적으로 분석하였다. 건 절제 후 시간이 지남에 따라 콜라겐 총량 및 1 형 콜라겐의 비율은 증가하였으나(p < 0.05), 3 형 콜라겐의 비율은 감소하였고(p < 0.05), 4 형 콜라겐은 의미있는 변화를 보이지 않았다(p = 0.106). 건 절제술 후 근 가동역의 비율은 콜라겐 총량(r = - 0.884, p < 0.05) 및 1 형

콜라겐(r = - 0.466, p < 0.05)의 비율에 대해 통계학적으로 의미있는 음의 상관 관계를 보였다. 건 절제 후 6 주째 근 주막 및 근 내막의 비후 및 비후된 근 내막간의 연결이 증가된 소견 보였다. 건 파열 후 건 봉합이 지연될 수록 봉합 후의 콜라겐 총량의 비율은 증가하였고(p < 0.05), 근 가동역의 비율은 감소하였다(p < 0.05). 지연된 건 봉합을 시행한 군에서도 건 절제술을 시행한 군과 같이, 근 가동역의 비율은 콜라겐 총량의 비율에 대해 의미있는 음의 상관관계를 보였다(r = - 0.721, p < 0.05). 건 파열 상태가 지속된 기간을 기준으로 건 절제군과 지연된 건 봉합군을 비교하였을 때 지연된 건 봉합군에서 모든 기간에서 의미있는 콜라겐 총량의 증가가 있었다(p < 0.05). 건 절제 1,2 주 경과후 봉합시에는 건 절제군에 비해 근 가동역의 의미 있는(p < 0.05) 호전이 관찰되었으나, 4, 6 주 경과후 봉합시에는 건 절제군에 비해 오히려 근 가동력이 의미 있게(p < 0.05) 감소하였다. 결론적으로 1 형 콜라겐의 증가가 건 파열 후 근 가동역의 감소와 연관이 있으며, 근 가동역의 감소를 막기 위해서는 1 형 콜라겐의 증가를 억제하는 방법이 개발되어야 하겠다. 또한 건 파열 후 치료가 4 주 이상 지연된 경우 근 가동역의 의미있는 호전이 보이지 않으므로, 4 주 이상 지연된 건 파열의 치료시에는 건 이전술의 사용을 고려하는 것이 유용할 것으로 사료된다.

핵심되는 말: 콜라겐, 콜라겐 아형, 근 가동역, 건 파열, 지연된 건 봉합

PUBLICATION LIST

 Koh IH, Kang HJ, Jeon SW, Park JH, Choi YR. Passive skeletal muscle excursion after tendon rupture correlates with increased collagen content in muscle. Yonsei Med J 2014;55:1395-9.

